FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
10/16/2023 1:45 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/16/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102479-7

Court of Appeals No. 39494-8-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF TACOMA, BIRCH BAY WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT, KITSAP COUNTY, SOUTHWEST SUBURBAN SEWER DISTRICT, and ALDERWOOD WATER & WASTEWATER DISTRICT,

Respondents,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Ronald L. Lavigne, WSBA #18550 Sonia A. Wolfman, WSBA #30510 Office of the Attorney General P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 OID #9102

I. INTRODUCTION

Over twenty years ago, this Court warned that adopting an overly broad definition of a "rule" under the Administrative Procedure Act would unduly constrain agency action by requiring formal rulemaking for the simplest and most rudimentary interpretation of statutes and regulations. In this case, Division Three ignored this Court's warning, as well as this Court's most recent decision about when agency action constitutes a "rule" under the APA, to conclude that the Department of Ecology adopted a "rule" in a nonbinding letter denying a petition for rulemaking. It also erroneously held that Ecology must go through formal rulemaking to use its existing authority to regulate nutrient pollution in Puget Sound.

All three branches of Government in Washington acknowledge that Puget Sound suffers from excessive nutrient pollution. Ecology has been working to address this issue for decades. In late 2018, Ecology received a rulemaking petition from Northwest Environmental Advocates (NWEA) asking

Ecology to adopt a rule requiring all municipalities that discharge to Puget Sound and its tributaries to install advanced treatment technology to remove nutrients. Ecology denied the petition because the agency did not believe the requested treatment technology was reasonable.

As required by the APA, Ecology's denial letter explained the alternative means it would use to address concerns raised in the petition. Ecology stated that when it reissued individual discharge permits to municipal wastewater facilities, it would use its statutory directive to require that wastes discharged to waters of the state of Washington be provided with all known, available, and reasonable methods of treatment (AKART) to establish nutrient limits set at the current levels of nutrient discharge from those facilities. This would prevent increased nutrient pollution from the facilities while Ecology further evaluated nutrient reductions necessary to meet the existing regulatory standards and restore Puget Sound's environmental health.

Ecology's denial letter has resulted in two inconsistent Court of Appeals decisions. In NWEA's appeal of the rulemaking petition denial, Division Two upheld Ecology's denial of the petition. Division Two specifically concluded that Ecology did not need to engage in rulemaking to implement the statutory directive that wastes discharged to waters of the state of Washington be provided with AKART. Division Two recognized that AKART is a technology-based requirement that is constantly changing as science advances. It held that requiring Ecology to engage in rulemaking before it could require facilities to keep up with technological advancement would unnecessarily and artificially constrain Ecology's existing statutory authority and frustrate implementation of the statute.

In this case, however, Division Three reached the opposite conclusion. It held Ecology *is* required to engage in rulemaking to implement the Legislature's directive that Ecology implement AKART when it issues water quality

permits. Division Three's decision would require Ecology to adopt rules for every technological advancement in water pollution treatment simply to issue permits implementing the existing statutory directive to require compliance with AKART in discharge permits. This decision unduly restricts Ecology's ability to comply with the Legislature's directive to issue a discharge permit to reduce nutrients in wastewater discharges to Puget Sound.

Division Three erred in determining that Ecology's statement regarding nutrient limits in Ecology's denial letter bear the hallmarks of a rule. The statement was not binding, nor did it have any independent regulatory effect, on the regulated community. It did not uniformly apply nutrient limits to all members of the regulated class. Instead, it allowed Ecology to exercise discretion in establishing nutrient permit limits, and in practice, Ecology has exercised such discretion in issuing permits since the denial letter. Despite all this, Division Three

still concluded Ecology's letter denying a rulemaking petition was an unlawful rule.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because Division Three's decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. This conflict creates confusion about Ecology's permitting authority and will result in differing determinations on the validity of permit requirements depending on the division that reviews a permit challenge. The Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because Ecology's ability to use its existing authority to address the longstanding nutrient crisis in Puget Sound involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The State of Washington, Department of Ecology

petitions for review of the Published Opinion of Division Three

of the Court of Appeals, *City of Tacoma v. Department of*

Ecology, No. 39494-8-III (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 14, 2023) (slip op.). A copy of the decision is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that an Ecology statement is a rule where the statement allows for the exercise of agency discretion, is not binding on the regulated community, has no independent regulatory effect, and does not apply uniformly to a class.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the regulation of nutrient pollution under existing statutory authority establishes, alters, or revokes any qualification or requirement for pollution discharge permits.
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Ecology must engage in rulemaking before it can regulate nutrient pollution when state and federal law require restrictions on the discharge of pollutants whenever Ecology determines that the discharge has a reasonable potential to cause or contribute to an excursion of a water quality standard.
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Ecology must engage in rulemaking to implement the requirement that all waste discharged to waters of the State shall be provided with all known, available, and reasonable methods of treatment prior to entry.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Federal and State Water Pollution Control Laws

The federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, makes it unlawful for any person to discharge any pollutant from a point source into navigable waters of the United States unless the discharge is in compliance with a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342(a), 1362(12). The Clean Water Act requires that states adopt water quality standards to protect public health, enhance the quality of waters, and serve the purposes of the Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c)(2). Water quality standards are subject to review and approval by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c)(3). NPDES permits for publicly owned treatment works must include effluent limits based on secondary treatment, as defined by EPA, and must also include any more stringent limitations necessary to meet water quality

standards. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(b)(1)(B), (C). Water-quality based effluent limits must control all pollutants that are or may be discharged at a level that has a reasonable potential to cause or contribute to an excursion above any water quality standard.

40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1)(i). States may enforce more stringent water pollution control requirements than the Clean Water Act, but are prohibited from enforcing water pollution control requirements that are less stringent than the Clean Water Act.

33 U.S.C. § 1370.

Congress authorized the EPA to delegate the NPDES permit program to states. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b). EPA has delegated the NPDES permit program to Washington State, and Ecology is designated the state's Water Pollution Control Agency for all Clean Water Act purposes. RCW 90.48.260.

¹ Publicly owned treatment works are also referred to as municipal wastewater treatment plants or simply wastewater treatment plants.

Washington's Water Pollution Control Act declares the state's "public policy" "to maintain the highest possible standards to insure the purity of all waters of the state consistent with public health and public enjoyment thereof." RCW 90.48.010. The Act makes it unlawful to discharge any material that "shall cause or tend to cause pollution" into waters of the state. RCW 90.48.080. "Pollution" is broadly defined to include the discharge of any substance that is likely to render waters of the state harmful to fish or other aquatic life. RCW 90.48.020.

The discharge of waste material by any municipality must be authorized by a state waste discharge permit.

RCW 90.48.162. Ecology must require the use of "all known available and reasonable" methods of treatment to prevent and control the pollution of waters of the state. RCW 90.48.010, 90.52.040. Washington's water quality standards require the protection of aquatic life as a designated use, including the migration, rearing, and spawning of fish and shellfish.

WAC 173-201A-210(1)(a). Of particular relevance to this case,

Washington's water quality standards also include dissolved oxygen criteria to protect aquatic life. WAC 173-201A-210(1)(d).

B. The Nutrient Crisis in Puget Sound

Ecology has been working to address nutrient pollution in Puget Sound for decades because excess nutrient pollution leads to low dissolved oxygen levels that fail to support Puget Sound's aquatic life. Through a process known as eutrophication, excess nutrients in Puget Sound act as a fertilizer and cause algae to grow, resulting in algae blooms. AR **000005**8. The algae consumes oxygen as it decomposes, resulting in low dissolved oxygen levels that are harmful to Puget Sound's aquatic life. *Id.* Excess nutrients can lead to profound consequences beyond low dissolved oxygen. These consequences include acidification, which can prevent shellfish from forming shells, seasonal reductions in fish habitat, intensification of fish kills, and the potential disruption of the food web. AR **00000**351.

Ecology has conducted numerous studies to evaluate how nutrients impact low dissolved oxygen levels in Puget Sound. A 2002 study documented that nitrogen is the nutrient that primarily controls the rate of algae and aquatic plant growth that leads to eutrophication in Puget Sound. CP 1339– 40. In 2003, Ecology research regarding low dissolved oxygen levels in Budd Inlet suggested that nutrient sources outside Budd Inlet affected water quality in the Inlet. CP 998. In a 2006 public notice announcement regarding the South Puget Sound Dissolved Oxygen Study, Ecology noted that many areas in Puget Sound had low levels of dissolved oxygen, and that nitrogen was the main pollutant that caused the low dissolved oxygen. AR 00000238. When nitrogen is released into Puget Sound, it moves around and nitrogen discharged at one spot may cause low dissolved oxygen many miles away. Id.

The Legislature has directed agencies to address the deteriorating health of Puget Sound. In 2007, the Legislature

created the Puget Sound Partnership "to oversee the restoration of the environmental health of Puget Sound by 2020."

RCW 90.71.210. The Legislature found that "Puget Sound is in serious decline," including "low-dissolved oxygen levels causing death of marine life." RCW 90.71.200(1)(b). The Legislature directed the Partnership to develop an action agenda to "[s]ignificantly reduce nutrients and pathogens entering Puget Sound fresh and marine waters." RCW 90.71.260(1), .300(2)(d). The Legislature directed "that all governmental entities within Puget Sound will exercise their existing authorities to implement the applicable provisions of the action agenda." RCW 90.71.350(1).

Accordingly, starting more than a decade ago, municipalities throughout Puget Sound began to start planning for the potential that Ecology would use its existing permitting authority to require reductions in the nitrogen discharges that were contributing to low dissolved oxygen levels in Puget Sound. For example, in 2009, Bellingham evaluated options

for nitrogen removal in case its future discharge permits required nitrogen removal. AR 00000265-66. In 2010, Pierce County similarly completed an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for the Chambers Creek Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant that included an evaluation of nutrient removal technology. AR00000259. The EIS acknowledged that "Nitrogen has been identified as seasonally limiting in marine waters . . . increas[ing] the likelihood and frequency of potentially harmful algal blooms and possible depletion of oxygen in the Sound Consequently, Ecology has begun to notify wastewater utilities that nitrogen control will be a part of future discharge permit requirements." Id. In 2010, King County completed an assessment of nitrogen removal technologies at its South Treatment Plant and evaluated the potential for nitrogen removal at its West Point Plant in 2011. AR 00000261–63. In 2012, Tacoma issued a nitrogen removal report, co-funded by Tacoma and Ecology, regarding the most

effective project to control nitrogen discharges from its treatment plants. CP 992; AR •••••264.

Ecology continued to study the impact of excess nutrients on low dissolved oxygen in Puget Sound, and studies in 2008, 2012, 2014, 2017, and 2018, led Ecology to determine that human sources of nutrients discharged to Puget Sound, including discharges from municipal wastewater treatment plants, cause instances of low dissolved oxygen throughout Puget Sound. CP 33.

In its 2020 Supplemental Operating Budget, the

Legislature reinforced its commitment to reducing nutrient

pollution in Puget Sound by appropriating \$535,000 to

Ecology "solely for the department to develop a Puget Sound

nutrients general permit for wastewater treatment plants in

Puget Sound to reduce nutrients in wastewater discharges to

Puget Sound." CP 1410, ¶ 29. Ecology issued the Puget Sound

Nutrient General Permit in December 2021. CP 1498. Most of

the parties in this case have appealed the Permit to the

Pollution Control Hearings Board, where it has been stayed pending resolution of this appeal. The Legislature created the Board to provide uniform and independent review of Ecology's decisions. *Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 592, 90 P.3d 659 (2004).

In its 2021–23 Capital Budget, the Legislature appropriated \$9,000,000 to Ecology to fund the Puget Sound Nutrient Reduction Grant Program to provide grant funding to eligible municipalities for necessary upgrades to municipal wastewater treatment facilities to reduce nutrient loading to Puget Sound. CP 1416, § 3101.

C. Ecology's Denial of Northwest Environmental Advocates' Rulemaking Petition

Frustrated with what it believed to be inadequate action to implement the nutrient reductions the Legislature determined were necessary in 2007, an environmental group, NWEA, submitted a rulemaking petition to Ecology in November 2018.

AR 00000231. NWEA requested that Ecology adopt a rule to define all known, available, and reasonable treatment for the

107 municipal wastewater treatment plants in Washington State that discharge to Puget Sound and its tributaries as year-round tertiary treatment to remove nutrient pollution with effluent limitations of 3.0 mg/L for total nitrogen and 0.1 mg/L (or lower) for total phosphorus. AR 00000237. NWEA noted that Ecology had identified the need to reduce nitrogen discharges from wastewater treatment plants in order to address the "very low levels of dissolved oxygen" in Puget Sound as early as 2006. AR 00000238-39. NWEA argued that Ecology had failed to implement AKART for nutrient discharges from municipal wastewater facilities that discharge to Puget Sound, and had only required secondary treatment to abate nutrient pollution, "an old technology that is woefully outdated and that no longer represents all known, reasonable, and available methods of addressing Puget Sound's nutrient and toxics problem." AR 00000250.

In a January 2019 letter, Ecology timely denied NWEA's petition, and, pursuant to RCW 34.05.330(1)(a), identified the

alternative measures Ecology would take to apply AKART to municipal wastewater treatment plants. AR 00000335–36. One alternative measure Ecology suggested was to use its existing AKART authority when it reissued individual NPDES permits to "[s]et nutrient loading limits at current levels from all permitted dischargers in Puget Sound and its key tributaries to prevent increases in loading that would continue to contribute to Puget Sound's impaired status." AR 00000336. This sentence is the portion of the denial letter that Petitioners in this case allege constitutes an unlawful rule. CP 2.

NWEA appealed Ecology's denial of its rulemaking petition, and both the superior court and the Court of Appeals affirmed Ecology's denial. *Nw. Envtl. Advocates v. Dep't of Ecology*, No. 54810-1-II, 2021 WL 2556573, at *1, *13 (Wash. June 22, 2021) (unpublished).² Division Two acknowledged

² This unpublished opinion is non-binding authority which has no precedential value and is cited only for its persuasive value.

that Puget Sound suffers from excessive nutrient pollution. Id. at *1. The Court of Appeals held that Ecology's denial letter "appropriately listed alternatives under RCW 34.05.330(1)(a)(ii)" to the proposed rulemaking because the denial letter "listed the alternative measures [Ecology] was taking to apply AKART to its individual treatment plant permitting process." *Id.* at *11. The Court also held that because pollution control requirements under AKART are constantly changing, requiring rulemaking to establish AKART "could lead to an absurd result where Ecology must conduct a rulemaking for every technological advancement. Such an outcome would place an unreasonable burden on the agency." *Id.* at *7 n.4. The Court concluded "Ecology's denial letter complied with the APA because it stated its reasons for denying NWEA's petition and stated the alternative means by which it will address NWEA's concerns." *Id.* at *13.

While NWEA's appeal of Ecology's denial letter was pending, Tacoma, Kitsap County, and three wastewater districts

that discharge to Puget Sound brought a Petition for Judicial Review and Declaratory Judgment against Ecology. The Petitioners alleged that the statement in the denial letter proposing to set nutrient loading limits in individual permits at current levels was unlawful rulemaking.³ CP 1–2.

Thurston County Superior Court agreed with Petitioners.

CP 1482. Before the superior court's decision, Ecology issued the nutrient general permit and two individual permits that set annual nutrient action levels for some but not all facilities that discharge to Puget Sound. Ecology appealed to Division Two and the case was transferred to Division Three. Division Three concluded that the sentence in Ecology's letter denying NWEA's rulemaking petition regarding setting nutrient limits at current levels was an unlawful rule. Slip op. at 38.

³ The denial letter suggested two additional alternatives that were not challenged in the declaratory judgment action. AR 00000336.

Division Three also reached an issue that had not even been alleged in the complaint. Despite the fact that the declaratory judgment action only challenged a singular sentence regarding setting nutrient limits at current levels, Division Three went further and concluded the "new requirements" in the nutrient general permit Ecology issued pursuant to the Legislature's 2020 Supplemental Operating Budget are also unlawful. *Id.* Contrary to Division Two's ruling in the *NWEA* case, Division Three also concluded Ecology "is required to adopt rules requiring" AKART. *Id.* at 11.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Review Should be Accepted Because Division Three's Decision Conflicts with this Court's Decisions and Published Decisions of the Court of Appeals

This Court should accept review because the decision below conflicts with this Court's decisions defining a "rule" under the APA. It also conflicts with both general Court of Appeals decisions defining a rule, and a specific decision by Division Two that Ecology did not need to engage in formal

rulemaking to take the same action the Petitioners challenged here.

To start, the decision below conflicts with this Court's cases defining a rule under the APA. The APA definition of a rule contains "two elements." *Nw. Pulp & Paper Assoc. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 200 Wn.2d 666, 672, 520 P.3d 985 (2022). First, a "rule" must be "any agency order, directive, or regulation of general applicability"; second, "the rule must fall into one of five enumerated categories." *Id.* at 672–73. If the first element is not met, then the challenged action is not a rule and courts need not consider the second element. *Id.*

This Court held just last year that agency action is not a "directive of general applicability," and therefore not a rule, unless it "applies uniformly to all members of a class." *Id.* at 673. This Court made clear that, to successfully challenge agency action as invalid rulemaking, "a plaintiff must challenge a policy that applies to all participants in a program, and not how policy is being applied under a single contract or

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