FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/15/2023 1:46 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1024797

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF TACOMA, BIRCH BAY WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT, KITSAP COUNTY, SOUTHWEST SUBURBAN SEWER DISTRICT, and ALDERWOOD WATER & WASTEWATER DISTRICT,

Respondents,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Petitioner.

# RESPONDENTS' ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with Decisions of this Court or Court of Appeals.

RCW 34.05.375 requires that an agency comply with the APA rulemaking procedures set out in RCW 34.05.310-95. An agency's failure to do so is grounds for invalidation of the rule. RCW 34.05.570(2)(c); Failor's Pharmacy v. Dep't of Social and Health Servs., 125 Wn.2d 488, 497, 886 P.2d 147 (1994). The purpose of APA-required rulemaking procedures is to give notice to the public of a proposed rule and allow it to comment on the proposal. Hunter v. Univ. of Wash., 101 Wn. App. 283, 293, 2 P.3d 1022 (2000) (citing Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 399, 932 P.2d 139 (1997)). The label that an agency puts on its action is not determinative of whether it constitutes a rule. McGee Guest Home, Inc. v. Dep't of Social and Health Serv., 142 Wn.2d 316, 322, 12 P.3d 144 (2000).

The Washington APA defines a "rule" as:

"Rule" means any agency order, directive, or regulation of general applicability (a) the violation of which subjects a person to a penalty or administrative sanction; (b) which establishes, alters, or revokes any procedure, practice, or requirement relating to agency hearings; (c) which establishes, alters, or revokes any qualification or requirement relating to the enjoyment of benefits or privileges conferred by law; (d) which establishes, alters, or revokes any qualifications or standards for the issuance, suspension, or revocation of licenses to pursue any commercial activity, trade, or profession; or (e) which establishes, alters, or revokes any mandatory standards for any product or material which must be met before distribution or sale. . . . .

## RCW 34.05.010(16).

The definition contains two elements. *Northwest Pulp & Paper Ass'n v. Dep't of Ecology*, 200 Wn.2d 666, 672, 520 P.3d 985 (2022). First, a rule must be an "order, directive, or regulation of general applicability"; second, a rule must fall into at least one of five enumerated categories (a) through (e). *Id.* at 672-73. If a court finds that the purported rule does not satisfy the first element, it need not address whether it satisfies the second. *Id.* at 676.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the TIN Cap

Letter meets the APA definition of a rule, and thus that

Ecology's failure to use notice and comment rulemaking

violated the APA. The decision is entirely consistent with prior rulings of this Court.

First, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the letter meets the first element of the rule definition, because it is a "directive" "of general applicability." *City of Tacoma*, 535 P.3d at 477-78. To meet this element a rule may be an "order," "directive," *or* "regulation"; the rule definition "goes beyond orders and regulations of general applicability and includes 'directives,' presumably referring to anything which is directive in nature, whether labeled a bulletin, an announcement, or a manual." William R. Andersen, *The 1988 Washington Administrative Procedure Act – An Introduction*, 64 Wash. L. Rev. 781, 790 (1989).

Agency action is a rule "of general applicability" "where the challenge is to a policy applicable to all participants in a program, not its implementation under a single contact or assessment of individual benefits . . ." *Failor's Pharmacy*, 125

Wn.2d at 495 (citing *Simpson Tacoma Kraft Co. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 119 Wn.2d 640, 648, 835 P.2d 1030 (1992)).

In *Simpson*, this Court held that Ecology's adoption of a new numeric WQS for dioxin was a rule of general applicability because the standard applied to all NPDES permittees discharging dioxin into state waters, rather than to just one permittee. *Simpson*, 119 Wn.2d at 643-44, 647-48. Similarly, in *Failor's Pharmacy*, DSHS changes to Medicaid reimbursement payment schedules for prescription drugs were a rule of general applicability because the policy applied to all Medicaid prescription provider program participants, not just to a single participant. *Failor's Pharmacy*, 125 Wn.2d at 495-96.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Simpson* and *Failor's Pharmacy*, holding that the TIN Cap Letter is a directive of "general applicability" because it applies to the entire class of municipal WWTPs discharging into Puget Sound pursuant to NPDES permits. *City of Tacoma*, 535 P.3d at 477. As with the WQS in *Simpson*, the TIN Cap Letter commits

permit writers to imposing nutrient loading limits not just in one discharger's permit, but rather in NPDES permits "from all permitted dischargers in Puget Sound and its key tributaries. . . . "AR-0000336.

The decision below does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Northwest Pulp & Paper*. Pet. for Rev. at 21-27. In Northwest Pulp, this Court held that a new section of Ecology's Water Quality Permit Writer's Manual addressing PCBs test methods was not a rule of "general applicability" because the manual did not require the use of any particular test method and thus did not uniformly apply a new testing standard on all PCBs dischargers. Northwest Pulp, 200 Wn.2d at 673-75. Focusing closely on the language of the manual, the Court held that it merely provided guidance, giving permit writers broad discretion to choose on a case-by-case basis not only which PCBs test method to include in a permit, but also whether to require PCBs monitoring at all. Id. at 674-75. The Court noted

that the manual also gave permit writers "the option of exploring an alternative [testing] process altogether." *Id.* at 675.

The TIN Cap Letter contains no such language and does not give individual permit writers discretion to decide on a case-by-case basis whether to include TIN limits in permits.

The letter states that Ecology "will, through the individual permitting process, set nutrient loading limits. . ." and "will use current permit reissuance schedules to include these requirements in [NPDES] permits by mid-2019" and that these and other requirements "will include individual water quality permits, and may include a general permit, rulemaking, or other mechanisms. . . ." AR-00000336 (emphasis added).

Moreover, Ecology did, in fact, include TIN limits as enforceable permit conditions in the PSNGP and individual permits. In stark contrast, in *Northwest Pulp* the record contained no clear evidence that permit writers ever required the use of the new test methods in permits. *Northwest Pulp*, 200 Wn.2d at 675.

Ecology attempts to read "discretion" into the TIN Cap Letter are unconvincing. First, Ecology asserts that its directive did not apply to the entire universe of WWTPs for which NWEA sought rulemaking. Pet. for Rev. at 23-24. However, whatever scope of rulemaking NWEA may have requested in its Petition is irrelevant. It is Ecology's response to that Petition - the nondiscretionary commitments in the TIN Cap Letter to impose nutrient load limits "from all permitted dischargers in Puget sound and its key tributaries" -- that is the directive at issue. That directive was clearly implemented in the PSNGP, which applies to "the 58 publicly owned domestic wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) discharging into Washington Waters of the Salish Sea" and identifies the individual NPDES permit pursuant to which each of the covered WWTP already operates. PSNGP at 7 (Condition S1.A) and Table 3.

Ecology further argues that permit writers had the "discretion" to decide whether to include nitrogen limits in the PSNGP because Ecology carved out a "small" discharger

category in the permit, collectively representing just 1% of nitrogen discharged by WWTPs into Puget Sound, upon which it did not impose numeric nutrient caps. Pet. for Rev. at 24. All PSNGP permittees, however, are subject to water-quality based action levels; for small dischargers, they are in the form of narrative effluent limits, which require a nitrogen optimization plan and report, which trigger corrective action requirements if the discharger's TIN load increases. PSNGP at 29. That the PSNGP has slight variations in its terms imposing TIN limits on categories of permittees does not render discretionary Ecology's directive to staff to require limits. In fact, by definition, a general permit applies to an entire class of point sources with substantially similar permit terms and conditions. See Fact Sheet at 12.

Most importantly, *Simpson* held that the fact that an agency directive may result in individual variations between program participants does not render the directive less "generally applicable." *Simpson*, 119 Wn.2d at 647-48. This is

precisely what the Court of Appeals addressed in its footnote regarding "uniform applicability," correctly pointing out that agencies may not avoid APA rulemaking requirements by creating slight variations in the rule's application. *See City of Tacoma*, 535 P.3d at 473 n.5.

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Ecology's argument, based on nonbinding dicta in *Northwest Pulp*, that a rule must be a "regulation" to fall within the APA rule definition because rules must have "independent regulatory effect." Pet. for Rev. at 25-27. *See City of Tacoma*, 535 P.3d at 478. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Ecology's interpretation of *Northwest Pulp* would effectively overrule *Simpson*. In *Simpson* – just as with the nitrogen limits at issue here – the dioxin standards became independently enforceable only after they were written into permits as enforceable permit conditions.

Moreover, in *Northwest Pulp*, this Court considered only the first element of the rule definition, holding that the manual

section was not "generally applicable" and thus was not a rule. Northwest Pulp, 200 Wn.2d at 676. This Court did not address the second element of the definition, whether the manual section fell into one of the definition's five enumerated categories (a) through (e). Id. The Northwest Pulp language relied upon by Ecology relates solely to the second element of the definition, as it quotes from and discusses the first of the enumerated rule categories, RCW 34.05.010(16)(a), rules "(a) the violation of which subjects a person to a penalty or administrative sanction . . . . " Northwest Pulp at 676. Because this Court resolved *Northwest Pulp* based solely on the first element of the rule definition its short discussion of the second element is not necessary to the decision and is not binding. Statements in a case that do not relate to an issue before the court and are unnecessary to decide the case constitute obiter dictum and need not be followed. Malted Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz, 150 Wn.2d 518, 531, 79 P.3d 1154 (2003) (quoting

State v. Potter, 68 Wn. App. 134, 149 n.7, 842 P.2d 481 (1992)).

Nor does the opinion below conflict with *Sudar v. Dep't* of Fish & Wildlife Comm'n, 187 Wn. App. 22, 347 P.3d 1090 (2015). Pet. for Rev. at 27. Unlike the TIN Cap directive at issue here, *Sudar* involved a "policy statement" outlining "guiding principles" and a "vision statement," issued by a Commission with no regulatory or enforcement authority. *Sudar*, 187 Wn. App. at 26-27, 31-33.

To satisfy the second element of the APA rule definition the directive must fall into one of the five categories set out in RCW 34.05.010(16)(a) through (e). Although Ecology's Issue No. 2 appears to address the definition's second element, the petition contains no supporting argument. Accordingly, Ecology has waived the issue. *See In re Detention of A.S.*, 138 Wn.2d 898, 922 n.10, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999). Nevertheless, Respondents address the second element of the RCW 34.05.010(16) rule definition here.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the TIN Cap Letter falls within rule category RCW 34.05.010(16)(c). In Failor's Pharmacy, the benefit of the Medicaid program ran to the Medicaid patient, and enjoyment of that benefit was altered by the change in reimbursement schedules, which "constitute[d] additions to and refinements of reimbursement methodology, not mere applications of existing regulations." Failor's Pharmacy, 125 Wn.2d at 495-98. Here, issuance of an NPDES permit is a benefit or privilege conferred by law because Respondents are required to obtain such permits in order to operate. See 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342; RCW 90.48.162, 90.48.170, 90.48.180. Ecology committed to imposing new TIN load limits as enforceable permit conditions in Respondents' permits, altering the qualifications and requirements for those permits. The new permit requirements do more than merely require that WWTPs comply with existing water quality standards; rather, they contain new numeric levels

specific to nitrogen discharge, "which has never been subject to direct regulation until now." *City of Tacoma*, 535 P.3d at 479.

Because the Court of Appeals held that the TIN Cap

Letter falls within RCW 34.05.010(16)(c), it did not reach the issue of whether the directive also falls within the RCW

34.05.010(16)(a) "penalties and administrative sanctions" category. It is Respondents' position that the directive falls into both categories.

In *Simpson*, this Court held that Ecology's dioxin standards fit within RCW 34.05.010(16)(a) because they would subject permittees to punishment if they did not comply with the standard once written into permits as numeric effluent limits and permit conditions. *Simpson*, 119 Wn.2d at 642, 644, 647-48. As in *Simpson*, Ecology has adopted the TIN Cap limits as enforceable permit conditions, exposing Respondents to penalties and administrative sanctions.

Finally, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Northwest Environmental Advocates v. Dep't of Ecology*,

No. 54810-1-II, 2021 WL 2556573 (Wash. June 22, 2021) (unpublished).3 That case involved NWEA's APA appeal of Ecology's decision to reject NWEA's rulemaking petition. The court held that Ecology was not required to adopt the effluent limits proposed by NWEA and that Ecology had complied with RCW 34.05.330(1), the process requirements for such petitions, which include stating the reasons for denial of the petition and, "where appropriate," the alternative means by which the agency will address the petitioner's concerns. Id. at \*6-13. The court did not make a blanket decision that the TIN Cap Letter complied with the APA. The issue of whether the letter's directive to impose nutrient limits in future permits constituted a "rule" was not before the court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Court of appeals unpublished opinions have no precedential value and are not binding on this Court. See GR 14.1.

# B. This Appeal Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals opinion will not require Ecology to engage in rulemaking every time it issues a permit requiring AKART. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 3-4, 28-29. The court merely held that Ecology must follow the APA and use rulemaking procedures before directing permit writers to include new restrictions in NPDES permits applying to an entire class of permittees. This clear standard is precisely the holding of *Simpson*, decided by this Court thirty years ago.

Complying with the opinion below will not constrain Ecology's ability to carry out its mission and purpose.

Ecology's actions here involve much more than merely exercising its statutory authority to ensure that WWTPs comply with existing WQS. Existing WQS do not regulate or set numeric levels for nitrogen discharges. *City of Tacoma*, 535

P.3d at 479. Nitrogen has never been directly regulated by Ecology. *Id.* The TIN Cap Letter is part of an entirely new permitting strategy; a strategy that requires, pursuant to the

APA, notice to the regulated community and the opportunity for meaningful participation.

# V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court deny the Petition for Review.

This document contains 4,937 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.